

# Community Health Needs Assessment – Implementation Strategy

## ST. CATHERINE'S REHABILITATION HOSPITALS

St. Catherine's Rehabilitation Hospital & St. Catherine's West Rehabilitation Hospital

Updated for October 1, 2022 – September 30, 2025

### **Steering Committee Members**

Aristides Pallin President and Chief Executive Officer

David M. D'Amico, BS, CPA Chief Financial Officer

Michael Spatz, MBA, CPA Director of Budget and Planning

Jaime Gonzalez, MBA-HA Regional Director for Hospital Operations

Joi McMillon, RN, CRRN, WCC, CIC Regional Director of Nursing

Rachel Croft, MBA Internal Auditor

### **Table of Contents**

I. Executive Summary4
Introduction4
Community Served5
How the Implementation Strategy Was Developed6
II. Identified Community Health Needs7
Health Needs Identified7
How Health Needs Are Prioritized8
III. Addressing Health Needs9
Reduce Re-Admissions9
Reduce Falls10
Expand Educational Services13
Expand Follow-up and Prevention Services15
IV. Conclusion17
V. Works Cited

### I. Executive Summary

#### Introduction

When Catholic health care began in the United States, it was clear community benefit would be provided. Catholic Health Services ("CHS") continues its tradition of community healing through rehabilitation and ministry services offered by St. Catherine's Rehabilitation Hospital and St. Catherine's West Rehabilitation Hospital (collectively, "St. Catherine's"). CHS is a ministry of the Archdiocese of Miami and is the largest most comprehensive faith-based post-acute provider in the southeast United States. CHS provides a full continuum of healthcare and social services to the southeast Florida community through various controlled entities, including St. Catherine's.

St. Catherine's extends mission-driven services into the communities served. Excellence in rehabilitation services goes beyond the walls of the rehabilitation hospital through its outreach to the wider community. St. Catherine's responds especially to the elderly and those with physical disabilities requiring rehabilitative services due to physical impairments. In addition to charity care and unpaid costs of Medicaid and other government indigent care programs, other healthcare and social services are provided by St. Catherine's to the community. These are services and programs that are needed in the community, but that would be discontinued if a decision were made on a financial basis alone.

As a mission-driven, faith-based hospital, St. Catherine's operates according to the directives established by the United States Conference of Catholic Bishops. The *Ethical and Religious Directives for Catholic Health Care Services* articulates the work of Catholic sponsored health care hospitals. These directives define the work of St. Catherine's. In this document the values and social responsibility of St. Catherine's include:

- Promoting and defending human dignity
- Caring for the poor
- Contributing to the common good
- Exercising responsible stewardship

By living its mission and values, St. Catherine's is rooted in the work of nurturing and improving the health and well-being of the people and communities served.

The objective of the community health needs assessment conducted by St. Catherine's is to identify the most important health needs in the community served by the hospitals and to identify ways in which St. Catherine's can help to address those needs. Due to the nature of a rehabilitation hospital, the focus of the community health needs assessment is defined by St. Catherine's principal function—the provision of rehabilitation services—within the geographic area served by the organization.

Specifically, St. Catherine's has defined its community as: *Those individuals who have activity limitations and participation restrictions due to functional impairments.* 

#### **Community Served by St. Catherine's**

St. Catherine's serves those individuals who have activity limitations and participation restrictions due to functional impairments.

The Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS) requires that 60% of the inpatient population of a rehabilitation hospital must meet one of 13 medical conditions. This requirement is outlined in 42 CFR § 412.29(b)(2). Because the organization is required to treat these specific conditions, the "community" served by St. Catherine's is restricted to individuals who have functional limitations resulting in activity limitations and participation restrictions.

The following are some of the common medical conditions treated by St. Catherine's and collectively made up 62.2% (almost 2/3) of the total patient population treated in 2021:

- Stroke: 21.4%
- Brain Injury: 14.1%
- Neurological Disorders: 12.4%
  - Multiple sclerosis
  - Muscular dystrophy
  - Parkinson's disease
  - Motor neuron diseases
  - Polyneuropathy
- Spinal cord injury: 2.3%
- Amputation: 1.1%
- Hip fracture: 9.8%
- Major multiple trauma: 1.1%

The other 37.8% of patients treated include a wide variety of diagnoses (e.g., cardiac conditions, pulmonary conditions, cancer, metabolic syndrome, etc.) all of whom had debilitating functional impairments, activity limitations, and participation restrictions.

Referrals to the acute inpatient rehabilitation hospital program are most often generated from an acute care hospital via the physician, family/patient request or via the case management department in those facilities.

Once a referral is received, a prescreening process is initiated. Whenever possible, an onsite visit is made by the Post Acute-care Representative (PAR) to the acute care hospital to, meet the patient/family and review the patient's status with the current healthcare providers. In lieu of an onsite visit (if not permitted by the acute care hospital), medical records may be reviewed by the Clinical Intake Manager (CIM). A comprehensive pre-admission assessment is then completed to validate that the patient

requires an intensive level of rehabilitation to be provided in an acute rehabilitation hospital setting by an interdisciplinary team of rehabilitation professionals, along with close medical management by the physician to address current medical conditions and to monitor potential medical risks. The potential patient must be reviewed by the rehabilitation hospital's medical director and approved for admission into the program.

#### How the Implementation Strategy was Developed

The implementation strategy was developed after the comprehensive community health needs assessment (CHNA) was completed. Please refer to the complete CHNA for the full report. Strategies and action plans were developed based on a consensus among steering committee members and were prioritized based on results from surveys used in the CHNA, current evidence regarding the effectiveness and impact of planned programs (STEADI), and re-hospitalization rates.

St. Catherine's intends to expand its outreach in the areas of education and prevention as described below.

The organization intends to take the following actions to: (1) improve the overall health status of its community and (2) facilitate overall improvement by focusing on narrowing the health disparities present in the community – within its mission. Below are the three programs St. Catherine's will undertake to meet the identified community health needs:

- 1. STEADI Fall prevention program implementation
- 2. Health Promotion and Wellness Community Educational Events
- 3. Stroke support group offered to all outpatients discharged with a Dx of Stroke

### II. Identified Community Health Needs

#### **Health Needs Identified**

The health needs that have been identified by St. Catherine's as being within the organization's capacity and expertise are as follows (and each is described in further detail in Section III hereof):

- 1. **Reduce Re-Admissions**. Hospitalizations and subsequent re-hospitalizations are among the costliest consequences of any illness or injury. It is through community-based educational programs, care transitions, and preventative services that St. Catherine's hopes to reduce the need for costly admissions by preventing future strokes, falls, fractures, and brain injuries. The organization's plan will also attempt to address reducing re-admissions to acute care by enhancing follow up services, care transitions, and preventative education for patients, caregivers, and the community at large.
- Reduce Falls. The cost and consequences of falls have been described in detail within the community health needs assessment. They are inherently linked to hospitalizations, disability, and death. Given the impact falls and subsequent injuries have on activity limitations and participation restrictions in the community, reducing falls and related complications is foremost among St. Catherine's goals. St. Catherine's will address this need through community fall risk reduction programs (STEADI), and provision of osteoporosis/fracture prevention services via medical outpatient clinics.
- 3. Expand Educational Services. Disability resulting from catastrophic illness or injury, such as stroke, results in a higher prevalence of activity limitations and participation restrictions by those impacted by these life-changing medical conditions. Stroke is a leading cause of disability, as well as one of the primary diagnosis treated by St. Catherine's. Other neurological illnesses/injuries also rank high among disabling conditions and those treated by St. Catherine's. The organization will address this community need by expanding follow-up services to those impacted by these conditions, as well as offering educational services to facilitate independence, health promotion, and wellness.
- 4. Expand Follow-Up and Prevention Services. Access to rehabilitation services was identified as a community need based on survey results. The organization will expand services by offering a wider array of outpatient follow-up and prevention services. The organization will also address this need by working closely with Medicare Advantage and commercial providers to provide further education regarding appropriate triage of post-acute care services in an effort to improve community health and quality of life and minimize the impact of rehospitalization.

#### **How Health Needs Are Prioritized**

Health needs were prioritized by reviewing the organization's strategy and capacity, reviewing priorities identified in the community survey, and by taking into account local, state and national priorities.

When prioritizing the health needs, St. Catherine's looked closely at the organizational strategy, strengths, resources and capacity. As a rehabilitation hospital, the strengths and expertise lie within the realm of maintaining and restoring, when needed, physical function to minimize activity limitations and participation restrictions. Therefore it was important to incorporate those strengths into the needs that the organization will intend to address.

The survey data revealed that a large percentage of those surveyed reported issues with falls and balance and many reported resulting fractures. This information supports the need for programs to address these avoidable injuries. Implementation of programs to address these functional deficits before injury occurs will result in better health in the community.

On a state and national level, there is a strong focus on reducing readmissions to acute care following a recent hospitalization as well as reducing falls and their consequences. Programs to address functional impairments and issues which can be offered to the general population will help in minimizing those readmissions that may occur due to falls, or balance issues with resulting injury. Programs that address general health, wellness, and preventative measures may help reduce the incidence of stroke, falls, hospitalizations, re-hospitalizations, as well as the activity limitations and participation restrictions that might result from a stroke or fall.

### **III.** Addressing Health Needs

#### 1. Reduce Readmissions

#### Actions the hospital intends to take to address the health need

As an organization, St. Catherine's has aggressively approached the issue of readmissions to acute care while a patient is in the rehabilitation hospital. Interventions have been put into practice that have helped to reduce the percentage of re-admissions to acute care but the results are highly variable and the lower re-admission rates which have been periodically achieved are not sustainable from month to month.

The strong focus on the part of CMS (Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services) as well as commercial payors and Medicare HMO's to control readmissions to acute care has made it of paramount importance to St. Catherine's Rehabilitation Hospitals to demonstrate sustainable outcomes reflected by a discharge to home with no acute care readmission during the 30 days following discharge.

This will be achieved by aggressively managing all medical issues as they arise in the inpatient rehabilitation hospital setting and analyzing, for trends and possible future interventions, all discharges to acute care from the rehabilitation hospital. This review will occur with identified medical physicians who are active at the hospital and engaged in the process of identifying ways to reduced readmissions.

Education aimed at patients displaying the ability to manage their health issues/conditions will be incorporated into all of the in-patient rehabilitation patients' plans of care. This education regarding disease and health management will be a primary focus of the education provided during community based educational sessions as well.

#### Anticipated impact of the actions

It is anticipated that discharges to acute care from the rehabilitation hospital will be reduced to 10% of total discharges. This is lower than the current rate of discharges to acute care which is at 11.3% for St. Catherine's and 13.1% for St. Catherine's West in 2021. Re-admissions within 30 days following discharge to the community are expected to be at 15%.

#### A plan to evaluate the impact

The organization will monitor readmission percentages from selected community hospitals to determine if there is any community impact.

#### Programs/resources the hospital plans to commit to address the health need

The organization will conduct monthly reviews of all patients discharged acute from the rehabilitation hospital to help identify factors that contributed to the need for the transfer and possible interventions to help mitigate the need for the patient to be returned to an acute care setting.

This requires a commitment on the part of the Co-Medical Directors, the Medical Directors, the Director of Nursing, PPS Coordinators, and the Administrator.

The organization will provide clinical staff to conduct, in conjunction with community acute care hospitals, community educational seminars to address disease management, management of acute medical issues, and general health and wellness skills.

#### Annual Progress Report as of 10/1/2022

St. Catherine's Rehabilitation Hospital has implemented an aggressive plan to reduce re-admissions to acute care. All the patients re-admitted are reviewed by a team of individuals who are trained to identify trends in clinical complexities. Physicians have been educated, clinical protocols for nursing have been implemented and community education events have begun (see below).

Re-admission rates for active inpatients in 2019 was 13.1%; in 2020 it was 15.6%: and in 2021 rates were 12.7%. This shows improvement although the hospital goal is to be at or below 12%. Goals have not yet been achieved and the hospital continues to work on this as a priority. We have implemented an internal tracking mechanism to monitor readmissions to acute care within a 30-day window of initial discharge from the referring acute care facility and a newer measure that tracks discharges within a 30-day window of discharge from the rehabilitation hospital setting. The tracking mechanisms have been developed, data collection has begun, and data analysis is forthcoming for this item.

#### 2. Reduce Falls

#### Actions the hospital intends to take to address the health need

Falls and related post-fall injuries are treated by the organization when an individual suffers an injury and therefore the issue is typically addressed *after* an injury. However, the organization addresses fall prevention currently by offering the following services:

- Participation in the National Falls Prevention Day (first day of Fall each year)
- A robust and active internship program for students in nursing, physical therapy, occupational therapy, and speech-language pathology
- A variety of evidence-based fall risk reduction strategies intended for the inpatient and outpatient populations

St. Catherine's will adopt the STEADI program that has been created and endorsed by the CDC. "STEADI" is the acronym for *Stopping Elderly Accidents, Deaths, and Injuries Program.* This program was developed in early 2013 by the CDC to encourage health care providers to continue to address the need of fall prevention.

The STEADI program involves using a tool kit which is based on a simple algorithm in order to treat older adults who are at risk of falling or may have fallen in the past. The toolkit provides basic information about falls, case studies, conversation starters, and standardized evidence-based gait and balance assessment tests. The toolkit also provides instructional videos and educational handouts in order to educate the patients who will participate in the program. These materials have been designed by experts to specifically educate patients and their families with the ultimate goal of fall prevention. Screening materials are designed to identify individuals who are at risk of falling. For those individuals at risk, appropriate follow up care will be recommended.

In addition, St. Catherine's will provide to the community interdisciplinary fall and fracture prevention clinics, as well as utilizing other standardized evidence-based fall assessment tools.

#### Anticipated impact of the actions

Older adults value their independence and a fall can significantly limit their ability to remain self-sufficient. More than one-third of people aged 65 and older fall each year, and those who fall once are two to three times more likely to fall again. Fall injuries are responsible for significant disability, loss of independence, and reduced quality of life. Each year about \$50 billion is spent on medical costs related to non-fatal fall injuries and \$754 million is spent related to fatal falls. ("Cost of Older Adult Falls"). However, we know that falls are not an inevitable result of aging. In recent years, systematic reviews of fall intervention studies have established that prevention interventions can reduce falls.

Research has demonstrated a 35% reduction on falls among individuals who have participated in the Otago program compared to those who have not (*Exercise Based Interventions*). A reduction in falls will subsequently reduce fracture rates among individuals at risk for fracture (osteoporotic/osteopenic). Furthermore, screening events raise awareness about fall/fracture prevention (secondary impact), and a comprehensive Fall/Fracture Prevention Clinic can address undiagnosed and/or untreated osteoporosis/osteopenia further reducing the likelihood of a fracture in the event of a fall.

The anticipated impact of the new programs is a reduced rate of falls and fractures in the community served by St. Catherine's. A specific reduction percentage has not been identified; however, the organization anticipates seeing a significant reduction in the number of falls due to the established success rate of the Otago program.

#### A plan to evaluate the impact

The impact of this program will be measured by surveying participants in screening events to determine if they have had a fall over the course of one year. This will be compared to the number of falls they have had the previous year. A reduction in fall rates would be expected. We would hope that fracture rates among the entire population in Miami-Dade County, specifically in areas near our facilities, would decrease over time. This population-based data will be monitored periodically.

#### Programs/resources the hospital plans to commit to address the health need

- 1. St. Catherine's Rehabilitation Hospitals will host or participate in communitybased falls screening events 3-4 times per year. Staff will administer the STEADI program and triage patients for appropriate follow-up care with a provider of their choice. This program will resume when permitted by the pandemic.
- 2. Appropriate staff members employed by St. Catherine's Rehabilitation Hospitals will be trained in the STEADI screening program.
- 3. Fall screenings (using STEADI toolkit materials) and fall risk reduction management programs will become a standard part of a physical therapist's management for all community-dwelling patients.

#### Annual Progress Report as of 10/1/2022

- A comprehensive evidence-based Fall Risk Reduction Plan has been developed which includes algorithms to manage inpatient, outpatient, and community-based populations.
- Staff have been trained in the plan and the algorithms for management and reduction of fall risk.
- Staff have also received training in the STEADI, evidence-based programs to reduce fall risk.
- Fall screening events are not currently occurring. Due to the pandemic, this program had to be place on hold. As the situation evolves we will resume our program once the pandemic label is lifted. At this time, the Pandemic Emergency Period has extended thru January 2023 (for 3 months)-.
- The STEADI program (CDC) will be administered during these events As well as other standard evidence-based fall assessment tools.
- Fall screenings are now a standard part of PT management for all communitydwelling outpatients served.

#### 3. Expand Educational Services

#### Actions the hospital intends to take to address the health need

Existing educational seminars that are provided in partnership with a community based acute care hospital and their physicians will be expanded to include independent living facilities and assisted living facilities within the community in order to reach a broad group of individuals. Topics to be discussed will include, but not be limited to:

- Early signs and symptoms of stroke
- High Blood Pressure "Prevention and Management"
- Diabetes
- Osteoarthritis, "Prevention and complications"
- Good nutrition in the elderly
- Depression in the elderly
- Dehydration and the prevention of complications
- Flu and the importance of immunization

As mentioned above, St. Catherine's will also provide to the community fall and fracture prevention education and screening events on a regular basis.

#### Anticipated impact of the actions

Education raises awareness, and a heightened awareness of healthcare related topics improves health literacy. Through these efforts we hope to improve general health, and reduce activity limitations and participation restrictions in the community we serve. Additionally, the long term impact of improved health literacy may lead to improved community health overall, and could reduce disability associated with chronic disease as well as new conditions.

#### A plan to evaluate the impact

Attendance at the educational sessions will be tracked and participant satisfaction will be monitored. In the long-term, we may be able to compare local health literacy rates to broader populations to see if there are differences between the groups. Additionally, admission/re-admission rates for diagnoses of interest (those relevant to the topics presented) can be monitored over time.

#### Programs/resources the hospital plans to commit to address the health need

St. Catherine's Rehabilitation Hospitals will provide qualified staff, educational materials, and space to host community education and outreach programs on a regular basis. Staff training and education will also be provided by the organization.

#### Planned collaboration with other facilities or organizations

St. Catherine's Rehabilitation Hospitals plans to collaborate with local and national organizations and agencies, such as the Multiple Sclerosis Foundation, the National Parkinson's Foundation, the National Stroke Association, the American Heart Association, the American Diabetes Association, the Amputee Coalition, the Christopher and Dana Reeve Foundation, the Miami Project to Cure Paralysis, the Arthritis Foundation, and others.

#### Annual Progress Report as of 10/1/2022

- St. Catherine's West Rehabilitation Hospital has collaborated with Palmetto General Hospital (PGH) and the National Stroke Association in providing monthly support groups and educational events relevant to the population served. A standardized curriculum was developed between October 2013 and December 2013. Courses began in January 2014 and have been ongoing. The curriculum utilized is evidence-based and approved by the National Stroke Association (LEAP Program). Topics covered during the year-long curriculum include:
  - Stroke 101
  - Fall Prevention/Fatigue Management/Exercise
  - Role of Nutrition
  - Recovery and Rehabilitation—A Lifelong Journey
  - Treating Stroke With Drug Therapies
  - Social Work Issues
  - Wellness Wheel Exercise
  - Emotions, Depression and Communication
  - Self-esteem and Intimacy
  - Speech and Memory
  - Wellness Wheel

The Support groups and educational events have been operational since January 2014. Satisfaction of participants has been excellent.

In October of 2014, the Stroke Support Group was expanded to two times a month at St. Catherine's West Rehabilitation Hospital. Topics included in the expanded service will be: Community-based services, home safety and modification, health promotion and wellness, and social support services. In January of 2015, Both of the Stroke Support Groups were expanded to St. Catherine's East Rehabilitation Hospital. In FY 2018, there have been 162 participants from both campuses. Satisfaction of participants have been excellent. For FY 2020, we are looking into introducing a peer support group.

We have this same program structure at the East campus with NorthShore hospital implemented since 2014.

#### 4. Expand Follow-up and Prevention Services

#### Actions the hospital intends to take to address the health need

Current medical evidence suggests that recovery after neurological injury/insult can continue for months and even years. Morbidity after other types of injuries and illness can also respond to treatment for many months, if not years as well. Examples of this described in current literature include: stroke, traumatic brain injury, spinal cord injury, hip fractures, neuropathies, myopathies, and progressive neurological diseases. Management of chronic medical conditions often requires ongoing, coordinated rehabilitative efforts. Current intense inpatient medical and rehabilitative management typically occurs rapidly (the average length of stay nationally is 14 days in inpatient rehabilitation facilities). While many of these patients receive home healthcare or outpatient rehabilitative services post discharge, there is typically no one with direct oversight and management of the recovery process after such catastrophic events. The recovery process is dynamic, fluid and often varies from patient to patient. Strategies are required to manage impairments and symptoms as they emerge to prevent further activity limitation and participation restriction later. Furthermore, management by rehabilitation specialists trained to identify signs and symptoms of functional decline, loss of independence, and complications that may lead to higher healthcare expenditures in the long run is warranted.

All our patients discharged with a Dx of Stroke, are encouraged to continue the therapy rehabilitation with our outpatient services provided in both our locations East and West.

The stroke support groups SCRH holds with the partnering Acute care hospital (Florida Medical Center/Palmetto General Hospital), will meet monthly and patients can address their concerns in reference to disease progress, set backs and other concerns to evaluate the need of any type of clinical intervention.

#### Anticipated impact of the actions

The goals (and potential impact) of the clinic are to:

- Maximize recovery after an illness/injury that has previously required inpatient rehabilitation; and
- Prevent functional decline by managing impairments and recovery across the continuum of care and in concert with individual patient progression; and
- Promote independence so that individuals may remain in the community; and
- Prevent avoidable hospitalizations/institutionalizations.

#### A plan to evaluate the impact

Monitoring may include monitoring of patient independence (living arrangements), patient/physician feedback, readmission rates (as compared to non-clinic patients), etc.

#### Programs/resources the hospital plans to commit to address the health need

St. Catherine's Rehabilitation Hospital will work on developing a Physical Medicine & Rehabilitation Follow-Up Clinic on all of its Hospital campuses.

Clinic Protocol:

- Patients will be referred to the Physical Medicine & Rehabilitation Follow-Up Clinic by Case Management at the time of discharge from inpatient care at St. Catherine's. The patient will be scheduled to be seen by the physician assigned to the clinic approximately 30 days after discharge. Appointments should be scheduled prior to the patient's actual discharge from the facility so that appointment cards can be given, and the purpose/importance of follow-up is explained to the patients and their caregivers.
- 2. On the initial follow-up clinic visit (approximately 30-days post discharge from inpatient rehabilitation), the patient will be seen by the physician assigned to the clinic. The physician should assess the following:
  - History and physical examination
  - Current medications/medication reconciliation
  - Current DME, including whether or not the patient received all DME prescribed at the time of discharge from acute rehabilitation
  - Whether or not the patient has had to return to a hospital or emergency department since the time of discharge from acute rehabilitation
  - Current participation in rehabilitation programs (outpatient or home healthcare)
  - Management of new or developing impairments (e.g., spasticity/rigidity, contractures, subluxations, edema, dysphagia, pain, etc.)
  - The need for additional or new referrals including but not limited to: DME, adaptive equipment, assistive devices, augmented communication devices, home modifications, environmental adaptations, orthotics, prosthetics, community services, social services, support groups, driver's rehabilitation, and vocational rehabilitation.
  - Consideration of appropriateness to begin new interventions that may not have been appropriate during acute rehabilitation. For example, neuroprosthetics (Bioness®), aquatic rehabilitation, advanced balance training, body-weight supported treadmill training, driver's training, etc.
  - Consideration of referrals to specialty clinics or disciplines to address other medical or rehabilitative needs. For example, physical therapy, occupational therapy, speech language pathology, spasticity/contracture management, Fall & Fracture Prevention Clinic (osteoporosis), etc.
- 3. After the initial follow-up visit, the physician may determine when (or if) further follow-up is warranted. Subsequent follow-up visits will be scheduled in accordance to the physician's recommendation. These subsequent follow-up clinic visits will include physician follow-up, as well as an assessment by a

16

physical therapist, *provided* the patient is not receiving physical therapy services under a home healthcare or outpatient plan of care by another provider. This will be verified by the Clinic Manager. A referral for the physical therapy evaluation will be written by the physician prior to the provision of physical therapy services.

- 4. Once the physician and the physical therapist have completed their respective assessments of the patient, they will collaborate to discuss the best strategies required to manage the continued rehabilitative needs and the recovery process over the long term, keeping in mind the goals of the clinic. Consideration will be given for additional services or referrals needed to promote the greatest recovery, decrease the burden of care, prevent avoidable re-hospitalizations, and allow patients to remain in the community as a productive member of society.
- 5. Additional follow-up visits will as long as necessary at intervals determined by the physician.
- 6. Clinic services will be discontinued when services are no longer needed, patients have reached their maximum benefit from the clinic, or recovery from the effects of illness/injury being managed has plateaued.

#### Planned collaboration with other facilities or organizations

St. Catherine's physicians who are participating in the clinics will communicate and collaborate directly with the patient's primary care/personal physician to coordinate the provision of care and services throughout the episode of care.

#### Annual Progress Report as of 10/1/2022

 A PM&R Follow-Up Clinic is to be developed utilizing the protocol described above on both campuses. The clinic became operational in October 2013 but ceased services since 2020 due to the pandemic. The latest communication from the CDC extends the pandemic period up to January 2023. We will work on re-implementing this service when possible.

### **IV.** Conclusion

St. Catherine's Rehabilitation Hospitals believe that the new programs to be developed will be a step in the right direction to addressing identified health needs of the community. Through new resources identified by St. Catherine's as well as collaborations with the University of Miami Department of Medicine as well as local community organizations, the impact on these new programs will be significant.

Comments regarding the Community Health Needs Assessment and/or Implementation Strategy can be submitted to the organization by contacting Jaime Gonzalez at jgonzalez@chsfla.com

### V. Works Cited

*Exercise-based Interventions: The Otago Exercise Programme*. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 24 May 2011. Web. 20 July 2013.

"Improving and Measuring Osteoporosis Management." The Joint Commission. 2007. Web, 20 July 2013.

"Cost of Older Adult Falls". *Centers for Disease Control and Prevention.* https://www.cdc.gov/falls/data/fall-cost.html. Accessed 23 November 2022.